FILED

**KP** CASE NO. 2008-KA-00754-COA

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CRAIG LASHOUN McBEATH APPELLANT/DEFENDANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI APPELLEE/PLAINTIFF

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF SCOTT COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Craig L. McBeath
SCMI, #138351
P. O. Box 1419

Leakesville, MS 39457

Appellant PRO SE

# CASE NO. 2008-KA-00754-COA

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# CRAIG LASHOUN McBEATH APPELLANT/DEFENDANT

VS.

# STATE OF MISSISSIPPI APPELLEE/PLAINTIFF

: .

.

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF SCOTT COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

### **ISSUE ONE**

٠.

Whether Appellant was subjected to a denial of effective assistance of counsel under the 6th Amendment of the Constitution of the United States.

### ISSUE TWO:

Whether the trial court's sentence for kidnapping exceeded the Statutory Maximum Penalty thereby constituting a violation of the 6th Amendment of the United States Constitution and the constitution of the State of Mississippi.

# **ISSUE THREE:**

. .

The trial court erred in allowing purported expert purported expert testimony, over the objection of Appellant, as to how the injuries occurred to the victim as this testimony was outside the expertise of the witness. .

### **ISSUE FOUR:**

The trial court erred in refusing to grant Appellant's motion for directed verdict of acquittal at the close of the state's case, in refusing to grant Appellant's requested peremptory instruction and denying Appellant's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict as such verdict was contrary to law.

### **ISSUE FIVE:**

Whether McBeath was subjected to double jeopardy in violation of the 5th Amendment. ISSUE SIX:

The trial Court erred in denying the Appellant's motion for a new trial as the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

### **ISSUE SEVEN:**

The trial court erred in failing to give instruction on manslaughter by culpable negligence.

ISSUE EIGHT:

That Appellant suffered cumulative error which caused him to be deprived of his constitutional right to a fair trial in violation of the 5th and 14th Amendment to the United States Constitution.

IV.

# STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

Appellant Craig L. McBeath, is presently incarcerated and being housed in the Mississippi Department of Corrections at SMCI, Leakesville, Mississippi, in service of the term imposed in this case. Appellant has been continuously confined, in regards to such sentence, since date of conviction and imposition of sentence by the trial court.

V.

### STATEMENT OF CASE

*:* .

Craig Lashoun McBeath was indicted for Count I, murder of Shannon Lee Torrence while engaged in the commission of a robbery in violation of Mississippi Code Section 97-3-19(2)(e), and County II, kidnapping of Shannon in violation of Mississippi Code Section 97-3-53. On April 15, 2008, Nelson was tried in the Scott County Circuit Court, Judge Marcus D. Gordon presiding, for the capital murder and kidnapping of Torrence. The jury convicted McBeath of simple murder, a lesser offense, and kidnapping. McBeath was sentenced in Count I to life imprisonment for murder and in Court II to forty years for kidnapping, to run consecutively with Count I.<sup>1</sup>

#### VI.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

The Appellant was denied effective assistance of counsel in violation of his Sixth Amendment Right to the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the State of Mississippi. Appellant was represented at trial by Honorable Roy K. Smith, an attorney of Jackson, Mississippi. Prior to trial, defense counsel failed to request discovery. Additionally, defense counsel never objected to the fact that there was a lack of evidence and that another person<sup>2</sup> had already been convicted of the murder and kidnapping in which Appellant was being tried and that only one person could be guilty of actually murdering and kidnapping Torrence. Appellant could only be an accessory. Defense counsel was ineffective in failing to seek an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Issac Jermaine Nelson was also charged along with McBeath for these same offenses. Nelson was convicted and sentenced to the same terms. Nelson's appeal was subsequently granted in part by the Supreme Court in regards to the sentence. Nelson v. State, \_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_ (Miss. 2009) No. 2008-KA-00299-SCT (Decided April 23, 2009)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Issac Jermaine Nelson was convicted of the murder and kidnapping of Torrence on January 24, 2007 over a year before Appellant's trial. McBeath was not charged as a accessory to the crime.

instruction for accessory after the fact of murder and kidnapping. Such failure was deficient and prejudicial to Appellant's defense.

The trial court erred in imposing a 40 year sentence upon McBeath for the kidnapping offense where such sentence exceeded the statutory amount which the trial court may impose for kidnapping in the absence of a recommendation from the jury.

#### VII.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 23, 2007, Shannon Torrance was declared missing. A search was conducted by the police which resulted in Shannon being found in a wooded area in rural Scott County, Mississippi. Shannon was found nude with a plastic bag over his head. (Tr. 74) The body was discovered by Scott County Patrol Deputy Sheriff Investigator Billy Patrick. (Tr. 73-74) Craig McBeath and Issac Jermaine Nelson were subsequently arrested and charged with murder. Upon being arrested the police asked McBeath to give them a statement. (Tr. 88) McBeath gave police a verbal statement that he had picked up the deceased and dropped him off at another location and had left. The location he delivered Shannon to was in Chinatown and he had not seen Shannon since. (Tr. 90) Another police officer who was present during the same interview testified that McBeath told them Shannon Torrence had dropped him and Nelson off at McBeath's home. (Tr. 96)<sup>3</sup> These statements were made by McBeath, according to Officer Greer and Officer Crotwell, prior to Shannon's body being found. (Tr. 96)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Officer Steven Crotwell and Officer Greer testified to two different version of what was said by McBeath during the same interval.

#### VIII.

#### ARGUMENT

.

# Appellant was subjected to ineffective assistance of counsel at trial in violation of his 6th Amendment rights to the United States Constitution

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel the defendant must satisfy the well-established two prong test set forth in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2065, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). First the party must show that counsel's performance was objectively deficient. The party must further show that but for the deficient performance of his counsel, he would have prevailed.

A claim for ineffective assistance of counsel is judged by the standard set forth in <a href="Strickland v. Washington">Strickland v. Washington</a>, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984) and adopted by Mississippi Supreme Court in <a href="Strickland">Strickland</a> standard are "(1) whether counsel's performance was deficient, and, if so (2) whether the deficient performance was prejudicial to the defendant in the sense that our confidence in the correctness of the outcome is undermined." <a href="Neal v. State">Neal v. State</a>, 525 So.2d 1279, 1281 (Miss. 1587) (citing <a href="Strickland v. Washington">Strickland v. Washington</a>, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1d984)). Counsel's representation is deficient if the errors are so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. <a href="Strickland v. Washington">Strickland v. Washington</a>, 466 U.S., at 687, The deficient performance is prejudicial to the defendant if counsel's errors are so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial. <a href="Id.">Id.</a>. When applying the <a href="Strickland">Strickland</a> standard, there is a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. <a href="Strickland">Strickland</a>, 466 U.S. at 689; <a href="Schmitt v. State">Schmitt v. State</a>, 560 So.2d 148, 154 (Miss. 1990). "To overcome this presumption, (t)he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that,

but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different, Schmitt, 550 So.2d at 154 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694; Nicolaou v. State 612 So.2d 1080; 1086 (Miss. 1992), The defendant has the burden to satisfy both prongs of the test. Edwards v. State, 615 So.2d 590, 596 (Miss. 1993). If either part of the test, deficient performance or prejudice, is not satisfied then the claim must fail.

٠.

In the present case, the Appellant would asserts that there was much information and facts he provided to his attorney which was never used by counsel in Appellant's defense. First, Appellant argues that the deficiency of defense counsel, Smith, which resulted in the greatest prejudice to McBeath was prejudice failure to adequately investigate his case prior to trial. Counsel's failure to adequately investigate the case prior to trial. Defense counsel had adequate information and evidence to secure subpoenas to summon various witnesses who would have verified McBeath's defense. Several would have came voluntarily without a subpoena. Defense counsel never attempted to secure these witnesses. This Court should conclude that defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel and that such ineffectiveness prejudiced Appellant's conviction in such a way as to mandate a reversal of conviction as well as the sentence imposed. Defense counsel was charged with promptly investigating all essential facts, physical evidence, and witnesses in the case. Defense counsel failed to adequately investigate the credential of Dr. Steven Haynes and to cross examine Haynes on his qualifications which would have revealed Haynes not to be board certified and qualified to provide evidence on the theory in which he presented at trial.

In <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 815 So. 2d 1196 (Miss. 2002), the Supreme Court held the following in regards to ineffective assistance of counsel:

Our standard of review for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is a two-part test: the defendant must prove, under the totality of the circumstances, that (1) his attorney's performance was deficient and (2) the deficiency deprived the defendant of a fair trial. Hiter v. State, 660 So.2d 961, 965 (Miss.1995). This review is highly deferential to the attorney, with a strong presumption that the attorney's conduct fell within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Id. at 965. With respect to the overall performance of the attorney, "counsel's choice of whether or not to file certain motions, call witnesses, ask certain questions, or make certain objections fall within the ambit of trial strategy" and cannot give rise to an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Cole v. State, 666 So.2d 767, 777 (Miss.1995).

*:* .

.

[7] [8] [9] ¶ 9. Anyone claiming ineffective assistance of counsel has the burden of proving, not only that counsel's performance was deficient but also that he was prejudiced thereby. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Additionally, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for his attorney's errors, he would have received a different result in the trial court. Nicolaou v. State, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss.1992). Finally, the court must then determine whether counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial based upon the totality of the circumstances. Carney v. State, 525 So.2d 776, 780 (Miss.1988).

In the instant case now before this Court, Appellant McBeath would assert that the trial testimony elicited from Dr. Haynes never proved Appellant killed Torrence and his attorney never properly pointed this out to the jury which left the jury with only the theory offered by Dr. Haynes who was not a board certified expert as he made himself out to be.

In Ward v. State, 708 So.2d 11 (Miss. 1998) (96-CA-00067), the Supreme Court held the following:

Effective assistance of counsel contemplates counsel's familiarity with the law that controls his client's case. See **Strickland v. Washington**, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2065, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) (noting that counsel has a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial reliable); see also **Herring v. Estelle**, 491 F.2d 125, 128 (5th Cir.1974) (stating that a lawyer who is not familiar with the facts and law relevant to the client's case cannot meet the constitutionally required level of effective assistance of counsel in the course of entering a guilty plea as analyzed under a test identical to the first prong of the **Strickland** analysis); **Leatherwood v. State**, 473 So.2d 964, 969 (Miss.1985) (explaining that the basic duties of criminal defense attorneys include the duty to advocate the defendant's case; remanding for consideration of claim of ineffectiveness where the defendant alleged that his attorney did not know the relevant law).

To successfully claim ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must meet the two-prong test set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668,687 (1984). This test has also been recognized and adopted by the Mississippi Supreme Court. Alexander v. State, 605 So.2d 1170, 1173 (Miss. 1992); Knight v. State, 577 So.2d 840, 841 (Miss. 1991); Barnes v. State, 577 So.2d 840,841 (Miss. 1991); McQuarter v. State, 574 So.2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990); Waldrop v. State, 506 So.2d 273, 275 (Miss. 1987), aff'd after remand, 544 So.2d 834 (Miss. 1989); Stringer v. State, 454 So.2d 468, 476 (Miss. 1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1230 (1985).

The Mississippi Supreme Court visited this issue in the decision of Smith v. State, 631 So.2d 778, 782 (Miss. 1984). The Strickland test requires a showing of (1) deficiency of counsel's performance which is, (2) sufficient to constitute prejudice to the defense. McQuarter 506 So.2d at 687. The burden to demonstrate the two prongs is on the defendant. Id. Leatherwood v. State, 473 So.2d 964, 968 (Miss. 1994), reversed in part, affirmed in part, 539 So.2d 1378 (Miss. 1989), and he faces a strong rebuttable presumption that counsel's performance falls within the broad spectrum of reasonable professional assistance. McQuarter, 574 So.2d at 687; Waldrop, 506 So.2d at 275; Gillard v. State, 462 So.2d 710, 714 (Miss. 1985). The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that for his attorney's errors, defendant would have received a different result. Nicolaou v. State, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992); Ahmad v. State, 603 So.2d 843, 848 (Miss. 1992).

In <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 688, 687 (1984), the United States Supreme Court held as follows:

In assessing attorney performance, all the Federal Courts of Appeals and all but a few state courts have now adopted the "reasonably effective assistance" standard in one formulation or another. See Trapnell v. United States, 725 F.2d 149, 151-152 (CA2 1983); App. B to Brief for United States in United States v. Cronic, O. T. 1983, No. 82-660, pp.. 3a-6a; Sarno, [466 U.S. 668, 684] Modern

Status of Rules and Standards in State Courts as to Adequacy of Defense Counsel's Representation of Criminal Client, 2 A. L. R. 4th 99-157, 7-10 (1980). Yet this Court has not had occasion squarely to decide whether that is the proper standard. With respect to the prejudice that a defendant must show from deficient attorney performance, the lower courts have adopted tests that purport to differ in more than formulation. See App. C to Brief for United States in United States v. Cronic, supra, at 7a-10a; Sarno, supra, at 83-99, 6. In particular, the Court of Appeals in this case expressly rejected the prejudice standard articulated by Judge Leventhal in his plurality opinion in United States v. Decoster, 199 U.S. App. D.C. 359, 371, 374-375, 624 F.2d 196, 208, 211-212 (en banc), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 944 (1979), and adopted by the State of Florida in Knight v. State, 394 So.2d, at 1001, a standard that requires a showing that specified deficient conduct of counsel was likely to have affected the outcome of the proceeding. 693 F.2d, at 1261-1262. For these reasons, we granted certiorari to consider the standards by which to judge a contention that the Constitution requires that a criminal judgment be overturned because of the actual ineffective assistance of counsel. 462 U.S. 1105 (1983). We agree with the Court of Appeals that the exhaustion rule requiring dismissal of mixed petitions, though to be strictly enforced, is not jurisdictional. See Rose v. Lundy, 455 U.S., at 515 -520. We therefore address the merits of the constitutional issue.

II

In a long line of cases that includes Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45 (1932), Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458 (1938), and Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963), this Court has recognized that the Sixth Amendment right to counsel exists, and is needed, in order to protect the fundamental right to a fair trial. The Constitution guarantees a fair trial through [466 U.S. 668, 685] the Due Process Clauses, but it defines the basic elements of a fair trial largely through the several provisions of the Sixth Amendment, including the Counsel Clause: "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence." Thus, a fair trial is one in which evidence subject to adversarial testing is presented to an impartial tribunal for resolution of issues defined in advance of the proceeding. The right to counsel plays a crucial role in the adversarial system embodied in the Sixth Amendment, since access to counsel's skill and knowledge is necessary to accord defendants the "ample opportunity to meet the case of the prosecution" to which they are entitled. Adams v. United States ex rel. McCann, 317 U.S. 269, 275 , 276 (1942); see Powell v. Alabama, supra, at 68-69.

Because of the vital importance of counsel's assistance,

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