IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CRAIG LASHOUN MCBEATH

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-0754

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

**BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO. [REDACTED]**

**OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
POST OFFICE BOX 220
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

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

Furthermore, McBeath's challenge to Dr. Hayne's testimony is procedurally barred and substantively without merit.

Additionally, McBeath's challenge to the sufficiency and weight of the evidence of his guilt has no merit. The proof is not such that a reasonable juror could have returned no verdict other than not guilty. Moreover, the defendant's failure to testify or to put on any evidence left the jury free to give full effect to the testimony of the state's witnesses.

Moreover, McBeath's convictions of murder and kidnapping did not violate the Double Jeopardy Clause. The crimes of murder and kidnapping each required an element of proof not necessary to the other.

Furthermore, the trial court should not be put in error for failing to grant a lesser-included offense instruction which was not requested. In any event, there was no evidentiary basis for an instruction on culpable negligence manslaughter.

Finally, McBeath's invocation of the cumulative error doctrine is procedurally barred and substantively meritless.

PROPOSITION ONE:

**McBEATH CANNOT SHOW ON THIS RECORD THAT HIS
TRIAL COUNSEL RENDERED CONSTITUTIONALLY
INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE**

McBeath first contends that his counsel rendered constitutionally ineffective assistance. He faces formidable hurdles, recently outlined as follows:

The Mississippi Supreme Court has adopted the two-pronged test set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) in determining whether a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel should prevail. . . . *Rankin v. State*, 636 So.2d 652, 656 (Miss.1994) enunciates the application of *Strickland*:

The *Strickland* test requires a showing that counsel's performance was sufficiently deficient to constitute prejudice to the defense. . . . **The defendant has the burden of proof on both prongs. A strong but rebuttable presumption, that counsel's performance falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance, exists. . . . The defendant must show that but for his attorney's errors, there is a reasonable probability that he would have received a different result in the trial court. . . .**

Viewed from the totality of the circumstances, this Court must determine whether counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial. . . . Scrutiny of counsel's performance by this Court must be deferential. . . . If the defendant raises questions of fact regarding either deficiency of counsel's conduct or prejudice to the defense, he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing. . . . Where this Court determines defendant's counsel was constitutionally ineffective, the appropriate remedy is to reverse and remand for a new trial.

In short, a convicted defendant's claim that counsel's assistance was so defective as to require reversal has two components to comply with *Strickland*. First, he must show that counsel's performance was deficient, that he made errors so serious that he was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that counsel's errors deprived him of a fair trial with reliable results.

(emphasis added) *Colenburg v. State*, 735 So.2d 1099, 1102-03 (Miss. App.1999).

Because this point is raised for the first time on direct appeal, McBeath encounters an additional obstacle: the pertinent question

is not whether trial counsel was or was not ineffective but whether the trial judge, as a matter of law, had a duty to

declare a mistrial or to order a new trial, sua sponte on the basis of trial counsel's performance. "Inadequacy of counsel" refers to representation that is so lacking in competence that the trial judge has the duty to correct it so as to prevent a mockery of justice. *Parham v. State*, 229 So.2d 582, 583 (Miss.1969). **To reason otherwise would be to cast the appellate court in the role of a finder of fact; it does not sit to resolve factual inquiries.** *Malone v. State*, 486 So.2d 367, 369 n. 2 (Miss.1986). *Read [v. State]*, 430 So.2d 832 (Miss.1983)] clearly articulates that the method that the issue of a trial counsel's effectiveness can be susceptible to review by an appellate court requires that **the counsel's effectiveness, or lack thereof, be discernable from the four corners of the trial record. This is to say that if this Court can determine from the record that counsel was ineffective, then it should have been apparent to the presiding judge, who had the duty, under *Parham*, to declare a mistrial or order a new trial sua sponte.**

(emphasis added) *Colenburg*, 735 So.2d at 1102.

Accord, *Townsend v. State*, 933 So.2d 986, 989 (Miss. App. 2005); *Walker v. State*, 823 So.2d 557, 563 (Miss. App. 2002); *Estes v. State*, 782 So.2d 1244, 1248-49 (Miss. App. 2000).

McBeath has not begun to show that his lawyer's performance was so deplorable as to require the court to declare a mistrial on its own motion. While he alleges unprofessional lapses, he has not shown that his trial counsel's overall performance mandated the declaration of a mistrial *sua sponte*. Because he has not shouldered the particular burden that he faces on direct appeal, his second proposition should be denied without prejudice to the raising of this issue in a motion for post-conviction collateral relief.

Although no further discussion should be required, the state submits for the sake of argument that McBeath's challenge boils down to a complaint that his trial counsel failed to make an adequate pretrial investigation. This contention is "insufficient as a matter of

law.” *Ward v. State*, 821 So.2d 894, 900 (Miss. App. 2002), quoting *Harveston v. State*, 597 So.2d 641, 642 (Miss.1992). In any case, it cannot be decided within the four corners of this record.

For these reasons, McBeath’s first proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION TWO:

**THE STATE DOES NOT OBJECT TO A REMAND FOR RESENTENCING
ON THE KIDNAPPING CONVICTION**

McBeath was sentenced to a term of 40 years on his conviction of kidnapping. The controlling statute authorizes a maximum term of 30 years if, as here, the jury has failed to agree to fixing the sentence at imprisonment for life. MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-3-53 (Rev.2006).

The identical issue was raised and found to be meritorious in McBeath’s companion case, *Nelson v. State*, 10 So.3d 898, 903 (Miss. App. 2009). Accordingly, the state does not object to the remand of this case for resentencing on the kidnapping conviction.

PROPOSITION THREE:

**McBEATH’S CHALLENGE TO DR. HAYNE’S TESTIMONY
IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED**

McBeath argues next that his convictions should be reversed because Dr. Hayne testified outside the realm of his expertise. The record reveals that during the direct examination of Dr. Hayne, the defense interposed only two objections, both challenging not the content of the testimony, but the admissibility of the photographs of the victim’s body. (T.175-76, 180) The issue argued on appeal was not presented to the trial court and is, accordingly, procedurally barred. *Keys v. State*, ___ So.3d ___, 2009 WL 3260582

(Miss.App.), citing *Cavett v. State*, 717 So.2d 722 (Miss.1998), and *Bogan v. State*, 754 So.2d 1289, 1294 (Miss.App.2000).

Solely in the alternative, the state submits it is absurd to suggest that the pathologist who performed the autopsy could not testify as to the cause of death. McBeath's third proposition is procedurally barred and plainly devoid of substantive merit.

PROPOSITION FOUR:

**THE VERDICTS ARE BASED ON LEGALLY SUFFICIENT PROOF
AND ARE NOT CONTRARY TO THE OVERWHELMING
WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE**

Under his fourth and sixth propositions, McBeath challenges the sufficiency and weight of the evidence undergirding his conviction. To prevail, he must satisfy the following formidable standards of review:

"If there is sufficient evidence to support a verdict of guilty, this Court will not reverse." *Meshell v. State*, 506 So.2d 989, 990 (Miss.1987). [other citations omitted] This Court should reverse only where, "with respect to one or more elements of the offense charged, the evidence so considered is such that reasonable and fair minded jurors could only find the accused not guilty." *Alexander v. State*, 759 So.2d 411, 421(¶ 23) (Miss.2000) (quoting *Gossett v. State*, 660 So.2d 1285, 1293 (Miss.1995)).

The standard of review in determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence is also well settled. "[T]his Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." *Collins v. State*, 757 So.2d 335, 337(¶ 5) (Miss.Ct.App.2000) (quoting *Dudley v. State*, 719 So.2d 180, 182(¶ 9) (Miss.1998)). On review, the State is given "the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." *Collins*, 757 So.2d at 337(¶ 5) (citing *Griffin v. State*, 607 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Miss.1992)). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will

this Court disturb it on appeal." *Collins*, 757 So.2d at 337(¶ 5) (quoting *Dudley*, 719 So.2d at 182).

Carle v. State, 864 So.2d 993, 998 (Miss.App.2004).

In this case, "[t]here was not a great deal of evidence for the fact finder to weigh since the defendant did not testify" or put on any other proof. *White v. State*, 722 So.2d 1242, 1247 (Miss.1998). The defendant's failure to do so left the jury free to give "full effect" to the testimony of the state's witnesses. *Id.*

We incorporate by reference the evidence set out under our Statement of Substantive Facts to support our position that the proof is not such that reasonable jurors could have returned no verdict other than not guilty, or that to allow the judgment to stand would constitute an unconscionable injustice. We also adopt the District Attorney's closing argument, supported by the evidence, to the effect that the state's proof showed that two people working together, i.e., Nelson and McBeath, committed these crimes and that each was therefore liable for the actions of the other. Moreover, it was inconceivable that one person alone could have committed these offenses. By his own statement, McBeath was present and had Shannon "in a headlock" for two to three minutes."¹ (T.226, 237-39)

The proof amply supports the jury's finding that McBeath was guilty of simple murder and kidnapping. The trial court did not err in refusing to disturb the verdicts. McBeath's fourth and sixth propositions have no merit.

¹This admission obviated the need for a circumstantial evidence instruction. *Smith v. State*, 981 So.2d 1025, 1032 (Miss. App. 2008).

PROPOSITION FIVE:

**McBEATH'S CONVICTIONS OF MURDER AND KIDNAPPING
DID NOT VIOLATE THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSE**

McBeath contends additionally that the Double Jeopardy Clause barred his prosecution for murder and kidnapping. The same issue was raised in the companion case, *Nelson*, 10 So.3d 907-908, where, as here, the accomplice was tried on charges of capital murder committed in the course of a robbery and kidnapping and was convicted of simple murder and kidnapping. The Court of Appeals rejected Nelson's argument with this analysis:

Furthermore, Nelson's contention that the kidnapping occurred as part of the murder and therefore, double jeopardy bars the prosecution of murder and kidnapping, is without merit. Murder and kidnapping have separate statutory elements, requiring different facts.

In *Bannister v. State*, 731 So.2d 583, 586 (Miss.1999), this Court held:

Although the state may freely define crimes and assign punishments, it is not allowed to punish a defendant for a crime containing elements which are completely enveloped by an offense for which a defendant was previously convicted. See *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932). "If an individual is charged with two offenses, and all the elements of one are included within and are part of a second greater offense, *Blockburger* intervenes. It charges that we compare statutory offenses, as indicated, and see whether each requires proof of a fact which the other does not." *Meeks v. State*, 604 So.2d 748, 751 (Miss.1992). "Even though there may be a substantial overlap in the proof supporting the convictions of the different crimes, the *Blockburger* test is met where each offense requires proof of an element not necessary to the other." *Holly v. State*, 671 So.2d 32, 44 (Miss.1996) (citing *Brock v. State*, 530 So.2d 146, 150 (Miss.1988)).

Bannister, 731 So.2d at 586.

Nelson was charged with capital murder pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated Section 97-3-19(2)(e) for murder and the underlying crime of robbery, which provides:

(2) The killing of a human being without the authority of law by any means or in any manner shall be capital murder in the following cases:

.... (e) When done with or without any design to effect death, by any person engaged in the commission of the crime of rape, burglary, kidnapping, arson, robbery, sexual battery, unnatural intercourse with any child under the age of twelve (12), or nonconsensual unnatural intercourse with mankind, or in any attempt to commit such felonies....

Miss.Code Ann. § 97-3-19(2)(e) (Rev.2006).

Nelson also was indicted for the crime of kidnapping pursuant to Mississippi Code Section 97-3-53, which provides, in part:

Any person who, without lawful authority and with or without intent to secretly confine, shall forcibly seize and confine any other person, or shall inveigle or kidnap any other person with intent to cause such person to be confined or imprisoned against his or her will, or without lawful authority shall forcibly seize, inveigle or kidnap any child under the age of sixteen (16) years against the will of the parents or guardian or person having the lawful custody of the child....

Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-53 (Rev.2006).

The crimes of capital murder and kidnapping each require proof of an element not necessary to the other. See *Bannister*, 731 So.2d at 586 (quoting *Holly*, 671 So.2d at 44) (*Blockburger* is met when each crime “requires proof of an element not necessary to the other”). Accordingly, this issue is without merit.

(emphasis added) *Nelson*, 10 So.3d at 907-08.

The same reasoning applies in this case. Accordingly, the state submits McBeath's fifth proposition plainly lacks merit.

PROPOSITION SIX:

**THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD NOT BE PUT IN ERROR FOR
FAILING TO GRANT A LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE
INSTRUCTION WHICH WAS NOT REQUESTED**

McBeath contends additionally that the trial court committed reversible error in failing to grant an instruction authorizing the jury to find him guilty of the lesser-included offense of manslaughter by culpable negligence. This proposition need not detain this Court long, inasmuch as no such instruction was submitted. "It is well established that '[e]rror cannot be predicated on failure of the court to give instructions not requested.'" *Blocker v. State*, 809 So.2d 640, 646 (Miss. App. 2002), quoting *Lindsey Wagon Co. v. Nix*, 108 Miss. 814, 67 So. 459 (1915). Ellis's second proposition plainly lacks merit.

Solely for the sake of argument, the state submits in the alternative that trial counsel's failure to request such an instruction is not surprising inasmuch as there existed no evidentiary basis for it. The state's proof showed that the victim died of strangulation and suffocation, with a plastic bag secured with duct tape over his head. It strains credulity to surmise how the acts causing this death could have been done negligently. Furthermore, the defense offered no evidence at all, much less evidence to justify an instruction authorizing the jury to find him guilty of culpable negligence manslaughter. *Goodin v. State*, 787 So.2d 639, 657 (Miss.2001), citing *Burns v. State*, 729 So.2d 203, 225 (Miss. 1998). The state reiterates that this issue is not properly before the Court. McBeath's seventh proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION SEVEN:

**McBEATH'S INVOCATION OF THE CUMULATIVE ERROR DOCTRINE
IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND SUBSTANTIVELY MERITLESS**

McBeath finally contends that "in the event this Honorable Court [does not] hold that each other aforesaid claims raised, standing alone, does not constitute cause to grand relief, the cumulative effect of each acted to deprive Appellant Craig McBeath of his constitutional right to a fair trial ... " (Brief for Appellant 34) He did not present this argument at any time in the trial court and may not raise it for the first time on appeal. *Maldonado v. State*, 796 So.2d 247, 260-61 (Miss.2001); *Gibson v. State*, 731 So.2d 1087, 1098 (Miss.1998). Accordingly, McBeath's eighth proposition is procedurally barred.

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